STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Saluda County

Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

ABIN LOWMAN,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001761  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

JORDAN WAYBURN  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**RECEIVED**

**May 12 2025**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the PCR court err in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to adequately investigate and then cross-examine two co-defendants about their potential for bias due to their plea deals with the federal government and pending charges with the solicitor, particularly where one of the promises of the deal was to request the solicitor dismiss all charges?

## STATEMENT

James Wilson and Joshua Darien, Petitioner's co-defendants, pleaded guilty in 2018 to federal charges related to their armed robbery of Danny and Lynda Tidwell. App. 1325 n.13, 1326. The Tidwells owned and operated Tidwell's Jewelry Store in Johnston, South Carolina. App. 163:3-17. They lived in a large house on the Persimmon Hill golf course in Saluda, South Carolina. App. 164:8-11. Danny testified the couple was at home asleep on March 8, 2017, when he heard men inside "hollering, 'ATF. ATF. Come out with your hands up.'" App. 182:1-15. Those men zip tied both of the Tidwells' hands; put them on the floor in separate rooms; stole three guns, some cash, and over \$100,000 worth of jewelry; and threatened Danny into revealing the keys and combination to the jewelry store safe. App. 182:21-24, 190:3-11, 247:11-248:22, 191:1-192:19. The robbers fled in the Tidwells' car. App. 205:18-21, 249:13-20. The Tidwells never saw the men's faces and could testify only that there were three big men in masks, they were Black, and one wore glasses, along with a general description of some of their clothing. App. 197:15-24, 239:1-17, 262:1-16, 299:19-301:24.

James Wilson was arrested in Maryland on March 11, 2017. App. 652:17-23. Joshua Darien was arrested, also in Maryland, on March 24, 2017. App. 653:4-14. They testified on behalf of the state that along with a man named Robert Goodwin they broke into the Tidwells' home and acted as the Tidwells' testified. App. 689:6-12, 753:15-764:2, 892:2-25, 923:22-931:19. Robert Goodwin is Petitioner's uncle, and he did not testify at Petitioner's trial. Goodwin is from Maryland, like Wilson and Darien, and is the connection between them and Petitioner. App. 381:3-382:7, 691:11-693:22.

Wilson and Darien placed primary responsibility for the crimes on Petitioner and testified he was the mastermind behind the plan: he identified the Tidwells as a target, App. 693:23-

695:19, 896:17-897:14; he recruited them and drove them down from Maryland to commit the crimes, App. 698:2-699:11, 899:23-900:23; he purchased the gun and ammunition Goodwin carried during the burglary, App. 715:2-25, 724:5-728:25, 907:21-909:9, 912:3-913:13; and, although they testified Petitioner never entered the house, he was present at the scene and was supposed to break into the jewelry store after they obtained the key and code to the store safe, App. 750:20-751:17, 752:9-14, 756:17-759:2, 925:21-926:20. This was the only evidence placing him at the house that night or connecting him to the end-goal plan to rob the jewelry store.

James Wilson testified he was being charged with the same crimes on which Petitioner stood trial but was not promised anything to testify and had no promises of leniency. App. 689:14-5. This was false. App. 1326. Wilson had already entered a plea agreement with the federal government concerning the charges he faced resulting from these events.<sup>1</sup> App. 1258, 1326-1327. In it, the government promised to request a downward departure for his federal sentences and to dismiss his remaining federal charges. App. 1261, 1264-1265. The Assistant United States Attorney also "agree[d] to recommend that the Defendant not be prosecuted or, alternatively, be sentenced to concurrent time for any similar or related state crimes stemming from the incidents on or about March 8, 2017 . . . ." App. 1269. Wilson pleaded guilty on the day he signed the agreement, but he was not sentenced until several months after he testified at Petitioner's trial. App. 1327 n.15. He was eventually sentenced to just over eleven years in prison on the federal charges. App. 1327 n.15.

---

<sup>1</sup> He ultimately pleaded guilty in federal court to Hobbs Act Robbery and brandishing a firearm in furtherance of a crime of violence. App. 1258.

At the time of Petitioner's trial, counsel knew Wilson had previously entered a proffer agreement with the federal government regarding his federal charges arising out of the robbery. App. 1216:23-1217:4, 1326. Trial counsel was unaware, however, that Wilson had signed an actual plea agreement for the federal charges on April 26, 2018—two months before Petitioner's trial—and therefore he did not bring Wilson's falsehood or the promises to light before the jury. App. 1218:1-21, 1258, 1326-1327. The PCR court specifically found "counsel had no knowledge about the existence of [the] federal plea agreement." App. 1331. It also found that "had he investigated further . . . he would have learned of the existence of the April 26, 2018 plea agreement which would allow the Federal Government to move for a downward departure . . . ." App. 1326.

Joshua Darien testified, initially, that he had no "promises or deals" relating to his charges, just as Wilson had. App. 892:2-893:2, 945:1-22. He expressly testified there had been no "discussion with them about downward departure on the federal case." App. 977:4-6. This was also false. App. 1323-1324. After he finished the substance of his testimony against petitioner, the solicitor informed the court that Darien had in fact "entered into a plea agreement with the feds with a downward departure."<sup>2</sup> App. 978:21-25. The parties agreed to make that fact known to the jury, the state called Darien back to the stand, and he testified he actually did have a plea agreement with a downward departure for the federal charges. App. 980:5-981:4.

Petitioner was tried before Judge Eugene Griffith, Jr. and a jury from June 18–22, 2018. App. 1. He was tried for first-degree burglary, armed robbery, two counts of kidnapping, and

---

<sup>2</sup> PACER indicates Darien entered a plea agreement and pleaded guilty on July 19, 2018, after Petitioner's trial. App. 1323 n.9. The PCR court noted, "It is not clear whether there was an earlier plea agreement or if Solicitor Hubbard was misstating that it was actually a proffer agreement as Darien corrected him in the later questioning as to it being a proffer." App. 1323 n.9.

criminal conspiracy. App. 13:8-16. He was represented by Robert Theodore Williams, Sr. App. 1. Sutania Fuller and Richard Hubbard prosecuted the case. App. 1. Ultimately, Petitioner was convicted on all charges. App. 1057:13-19, 1290. Based on the state's prior notice of its intention to seek a life sentence due to Petitioner's prior convictions, Judge Griffith sentenced Petitioner to concurrent life sentences for the burglary, armed robbery, and kidnapping charges, as well as a concurrent five-year sentence for the conspiracy. App. 1061:12-1062:19.

Petitioner was represented on appeal by Robert Dudek who filed an *Anders* brief arguing the trial court erred by refusing to declare a mistrial after Wilson testified Petitioner had previously been in prison. App. 1291. The Court of Appeals then dismissed the appeal. *State v. Lowman*, 2021-UP-172 (S.C. Ct. App. dated May 18, 2021).

On March 9, 2022, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief. App. 1080-1101. The state filed its return on March 13, 2024, and through appointed counsel Chelsey Marto, Petitioner filed an amended application on March 15, 2024. App. 1103-1122, 1124-1126. On March 19, 2024, Judge Cordell Maddox held an evidentiary hearing on Petitioner's application. App. 1128. At the hearing Petitioner, trial counsel, Hubbard, and Fuller testified. App. 1129. Petitioner also introduced several exhibits, including James Wilson's federal plea agreement. App. 1130, 1141:15-20, 1258.

Trial counsel testified that at the time of trial he knew Wilson had previously entered a proffer agreement with the federal government regarding his charges arising out of the robbery. App. 1199:11-25, 1216:23-1217:4, 1326. Trial counsel was unaware, however, that Wilson had signed an actual plea agreement for the federal charges two months before Petitioner's trial and therefore he did not bring Wilson's falsehood to light before the jury. App. 1218:1-21, 1326-

1327, 1258. Trial counsel's only investigation into any potential deals for Wilson and Darien consisted of a federal public defender telling him about the proffers. App. 1200:3-12.

The PCR court entered an order dismissing Petitioner's application on September 24, 2024. App. 1290-1366. In it the court concluded, "defense counsel could have learned [of] the existence of [Wilson's] federal plea agreement as docket no. 80 on April 26, 2018, before the Lowman trial." App. 1326. This was because trial counsel was previously "aware of the fact that the Witness Wilson had made a statement to the federal government pursuant to a proffer agreement with the federal government." 1327. That agreement "require[d] the federal government to request that any state charges not be prosecuted or that any state sentence run concurrent with the federal sentence." App. 1326-27. In fact, that is precisely what occurred: Wilson was sentenced on his state charges with terms to run concurrently with his federal sentences and several of the charges were dismissed outright. *State v. James Christopher Wilson*, Saluda County, Nos. 2017A4110100126, 2017A4110200046 through 2017A4110200052 (disposed 2019).

The order of dismissal did not expressly conclude counsel's performance was either deficient or reasonable on this point. App. 1326-1329. Instead, the PCR court found no prejudice from counsel's failure to impeach Wilson with clear evidence of potential bias. App. 1329. It placed importance on the fact the agreement was with the federal government rather than the state. App. 1328. It reasoned that because the jury heard about Darien's agreement and the two witness's testimony were so similar, there was no detriment to Petitioner. App. 1328-1329. The court also pointed to what it termed "additional corroborating evidence . . . which made further credibility issues with Wilson mitigated." App. 1329.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

"The Sixth Amendment guarantees every criminal defendant the reasonably effective assistance of counsel." *Stone v. State*, 419 S.C. 370, 379, 798 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2017) (citations omitted). A PCR applicant proves ineffectiveness in two prongs: "(1) counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different." *Williams v. State*, 363 S.C. 341, 343, 611 S.E.2d 232, 233 (2005) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *Sellers v. State*, 362 S.C. 182, 188, 607 S.E.2d 82, 85 (2005)).

Here, trial counsel was deficient because any reasonable investigation into the case would have uncovered the plea deal with the federal government and then used that evidence to impeach James Wilson and Joshua Darien.<sup>3</sup> Counsel's failure to do so severely prejudiced his case because the deal was powerful evidence of bias and the jury had been misinformed there was no deal. Had the jury been properly informed, it likely would have disregarded Wilson's and Darien's testimony as incredible. Without that evidence the state's case connecting Lowman to the crimes was limited, and there is a reasonable probability he would have been acquitted.

### (1) Deficiency

It has been long recognized that a witness for the prosecution with pending or dismissed charges can be impeached with evidence of that potential bias. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174,

---

<sup>3</sup> For clarity, this issue refers primarily to Petitioner's allegation *i* that trial counsel was ineffective for "fail[ing] to investigate potential plea resolutions Applicant's co-defendants had." App. 1124. However, it necessarily incorporates some of the considerations in his allegation *j* concerning counsel's failure to cross-examine Wilson about his agreement. App. 1124. Although the PCR court is correct that counsel was not deficient for failing to speculate about an agreement given his lack of actual knowledge, App. 1331, that does not redeem the matter. See *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690-91 ("[S]trategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation."). The primary deficiency is the failure to conduct a reasonable investigation; the prejudice, however, is a combination of both allegations because reasonable counsel with knowledge of the agreement would have certainly used it as impeachment evidence, as trial counsel attempted to do upon learning of Darien's plea deal.

183, 810 S.E.2d 836, 840 (2018); Rule 608(c), SCRE; *see also* 70 Corpus Juris, *Witnesses* § 1181, at 981-82 (1935). Because of the potency of potential impeachment evidence tending to show bias and the witness's incentive to misrepresent the truth, evidence of a plea deal is important. *Smalls*, 422 S.C. at 182-83, 810 S.E.2d at 840-41 (citing *State v. Brown*, 303 S.C. 169, 171, 399 S.E.2d 593, 594 (1991)) (finding counsel was deficient for failing to introduce evidence the witness's pending charge had been dismissed because "[e]vidence of a witness's bias can be compelling impeachment evidence"); *cf. Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150, 151-52, 154-55 (1972) (holding *Brady* disclosure-rule extends to credibility evidence where key witness's testimony could have been impeached by evidence of a plea deal). Given the nature of Wilson's and Darien's testimony, any reasonable counsel would have known to impeach their credibility and expose any bias as much as possible, and counsel was required to take reasonable investigatory steps to uncover such evidence.

Although unstated, the PCR court was correct to imply trial counsel was deficient for failing to discover Wilson's plea agreement. "[C]ounsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary." *Walker v. State*, 407 S.C. 400, 405, 756 S.E.2d 144, 147 (2014) (alteration in original) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Here, trial counsel testified he knew about a proffer agreement between Wilson and the federal government relating to these charges prior to Petitioner's trial. App. 1216:23-1217:4, 1326. Any trial attorney should know that a proffer implies and leads to an agreement. Nonetheless, counsel made no efforts to learn of the agreements.

Importantly, the plea agreement was available on PACER many weeks before Petitioner's trial. App. 1326. Nonetheless, trial counsel did not discover the agreement despite his knowledge of the proffer and the ease with which he could have obtained it. App. 1331. Failing to recognize the potential for an agreement and the utility of such evidence is not reasonable.

Having knowledge potentially powerful evidence could exist and failing to obtain it when it is easy to do so is not reasonable. While the duty to investigate "does not force defense lawyers to scour the globe on the off chance something will turn up," counsel is required to make reasonable inquiries into potentially powerful information when counsel has reason to believe such information might be easily found. *Rompilla v. Beard*, 545 U.S. 374, 383 (2005). Trial counsel knew about the proffer statement at least a week prior to trial—and could have learned of it over a month before—and yet took no steps to determine if anything more had occurred and what Wilson stood to gain. He testified his only 'investigation' was being informed about the proffers by a federal public defender. That is not a reasonable investigation.

(2) Prejudice

a. This was Powerful Evidence of Bias and Motive to Lie

The potential for the plea deal to bias Wilson's testimony was substantial because he faced such severe possible punishments the deal could have avoided. The plea deal was evidence of bias in three ways. First, it directly resulted in dismissal of unidentified other charges and a promise the Assistant United States Attorney would recommend a downward departure for the federal crimes. That is a significant promise because Wilson faced up to twenty-seven years in prison on the federal charges to which he pleaded guilty. App. 1259. He also was not subjected to any punishment for the unidentified dismissed offenses. App. 1261.

Second, and even more impactful to a jury, the plea deal included a promise for the Assistant United States Attorney to request the solicitor's office "to recommend that the Defendant *not be prosecuted* or, alternatively, be sentenced to concurrent time for any similar or related state crimes . . . ." App. 1269. That is a huge potential boon when he was charged with the exact same offenses for which Petitioner was being tried: armed robbery, first-degree burglary, two counts of kidnapping, and criminal conspiracy. App. 689:16-24. Wilson could have received upwards of a life sentence for his crimes. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311 (first-

degree burglary punishable by life imprisonment); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910 (kidnapping punishable by up to thirty years); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910 (armed robbery punishable by at least ten years and no more than thirty years). Wilson *also* had other pending state charges—which were ultimately dismissed after Petitioner's trial—for impersonating a law enforcement officer, grand larceny, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.<sup>4</sup> He faced upwards of ten years in prison on the grand larceny alone. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-30. For all practical purposes, the only way for Wilson to ever have a life outside of prison again was for these charges to be handled *very* favorably, such as on the recommendation of an Assistant United States Attorney. He had an extreme need for the solicitor and federal government to look on him in a positive light. That is strong evidence of potential bias and could have easily influenced the jury to discredit Wilson's testimony. *See State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 24, 558 S.E.2d 518, 522 (2002) (reversing trial court ruling prohibiting cross-examination on evidence of bias where witness had pending charges including first degree burglary). As in *Sims*, there was a "substantial possibility" Wilson "would give biased testimony in an effort to have the solicitor highlight to his future trial judge how he had cooperated in the instant case." 348 S.C. at 25, 558 S.E.2d at 523.

Third, Wilson's testimony painted Petitioner as the mastermind behind the whole plan and him as a young fool who went along with it. He needed that to be the story and version of events to or else he likely never would have had a deal in the first place. As the state did here and as is common knowledge, in a situation like this law enforcement officers and prosecutors want the criminal leader, the one who came up with the plan. If the best way to do that is by cutting a deal with a co-defendant in exchange for his testimony, they will often make that

---

<sup>4</sup> *State v. James Christopher Wilson*, Saluda County, Nos. 2017A4110200048 (impersonating law enforcement officer), 2017A4110200049 (grand larceny), 2017A4110200050 (possession of a weapon). All of these charges were pending at the time of Lowman's trial and dismissed in January of 2019.

happen in order to catch the bigger fish. Wilson could only take advantage of that possibility if someone else was the leader. By misrepresenting or exaggerating Petitioner's involvement, Wilson not only curried favor with the state and federal prosecutors but also minimized his role in the crimes. That version of events is valuable to people staring down sentences of potentially over a hundred years because there never would have been a deal unless he implicated someone else as the leader. Had trial counsel conducted a reasonable investigation, he could have challenged Wilson with this bias and further demonstrated his incentive to misrepresent.

b. The PCR Court Failed to Appreciate the Full Influence of Counsel's Failure

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