RECEIVED

Oct 27 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Saluda County

Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001761

ABIN LOWMAN,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758

South Carolina Attorney General's Office
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803-734-3601)

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

ARGUMENT ON WHY CERTIORARI SHOULD BE DENIED

The Petitioner asserts that counsel Theo Williams was deficient, and his deficiency was prejudicial related to the unknown negotiations the federal government had made with witnesses Joshua Darien and James Wilson related to their federal charges arising from the incidents they were involved in with Abin Lowman. The Petitioner asserts that counsel should have learned that the U.S. Attorney had indicated in their federal plea agreements that the federal government and the Assistant U. S. Attorney had indicated to the witnesses that they would recommend a downward departure on the federal crimes and a recommendation to the solicitor that “the Defendant (witness) not be prosecuted for the state crimes or alternately, be sentenced to concurrent time for any similar or related crimes . . . ” App.p. 1269.² The Petitioner asserts that this alleged failure by counsel Williams prejudiced the Petitioner because the request by the federal government to have the state drop the state charges was significant. He argues that with Wilson being unimpeached by the federal agreement it also bolstered Darien’s testimony and was of a high impeachment value. The PCR Court rejected the assertions, concluding, in pertinent part, that the federal plea was not

² The Wilson plea agreement also stated the agreement was not binding on the 11th Circuit Solicitor’s Office and that the Defendant understood that he had no right to withdraw his guilty plea should the federal government’s recommendation not be followed by the 11th Circuit Solicitor’s Office. APP. 1269. The PCR court found that Solicitor Hubbard had credibly testified that he was unaware of the federal plea agreements and had made no deals not only with Wilson and Darien, but also with the federal government. Hubbard indicated that this was a major case in Saluda County and indicated to the federal prosecutors to stay out of the state’s way. APP. 1223. The Solicitor asserted that he never received a call from Assistant U. S. Attorney Holloway after the conversation about any potential agreement (implicitly including the lack of any request for non-prosecution of either Darien or Wilson). APP. 1337-1338.

with the state government nor sanctioned by the Solicitor's office as credibly revealed by the testimony of Solicitor Hubbard. APP. 1316-1318. Further, it noted that the testimony of similar value was revealed within Joshua Darien's testimony. Finally, prejudice was also not supported that the corroborating evidence of Lowman's involvement in the crime. Certiorari should be denied since probative evidence supports these conclusions by the PCR judge.

Petitioner claims his counsel should have more effectively cross-examined witnesses. He felt counsel did not have adequate information. Counsel was aware that the state's theory was that nothing would have happened without Lowman's involvement. Lowman testified that with the evidence he has now, the state's theory does not match the evidence because his co-defendants lied.

Counsel used reasonable tactics when he impeached Darien and Wilson on Inconsistent Statements.

A review of the examinations of Wilson and Darien shows that counsel did examine Wilson and Darien about the inconsistent statements they made. Counsel Williams inquired of Wilson about what he told law enforcement as to why he came to S.C. on whether it was to buy a car or commit a robbery. APP. 802-803. He inquired about whether he was straight with law enforcement when he told them about what went on originally and where the jewelry was left and when it was sold in Maryland. APP. 805-807. Counsel challenged Wilson on whether he had been accurate in his statements to law enforcement on where the gun was purchased and when he purchased the items. APP. 808-810. He also challenged him with what he told law enforcement that when he bought the bullets on whether they were in there looking at video games and at which Walmart. APP. 811-812. Counsel inquired about his statement to law enforcement that he did not want to

give them the names of whom he sold the jewelry to in Maryland because he did not want them to get into trouble. APP. 824.³

Similarly, counsel Williams sought to impeach Joshua Darien with his prior statements. He inquired about the first interview with law enforcement after the arrest while he was in the hospital due to a head injury. APP. 952. He sought to impeach him on whether he told law enforcement that he went to Summerville rather than Spartanburg to pick up the gun. APP. 955. Counsel Williams also inquired about the number of times Darien went over his testimony with the Solicitor or law enforcement. APP. 967. In particular, Williams questioned the reason to be riding around was to buy a car for Lowman's mother. APP. 968-969.

“Trial counsel's decisions regarding the selection of the best defense plan... involved tactics well within professionally reasonable conduct that should not be second-guessed by this Court

³ Without the knowledge of the existence of the plea agreement, counsel did not err in inquiring about the plea agreement in speculation about its existence. Counsel was not deficient in failing to do so. *See Moss v. Hofbauer*, 286 F.3d 851, 864–65 (6th Cir.2002) (holding that speculation as to possible lines of cross-examination is insufficient for ineffective assistance of counsel where no evidence was presented on how witness would have testified had the cross-examination been pursued). *Matylinsky v. Budge*, 577 F.3d 1083, 1093 (9th Cir. 2009) (counsel cross-examined jail inmate sufficiently to put inmate's credibility thoroughly at issue and extra impeaching would not have changed result of trial). *See also Woods v. Sinclair*, 655 F.3d 886, 910 (9th Cir. 2011) (ample impeachment existed which overcame alleged deficiencies in an overwhelming evidence case); *Hayes v. Ayers*, 632 F.3d 500, 519 (9th Cir. 2011)(actual cross-examination conducted gave ample opportunity for the jury to evaluate the witness); *Little v. Johnson*, 162 F.3d 835, 861 (5th Cir. 1998) (record showed vigorous cross). The Ninth Circuit also said that the defendant had failed to show that the result would be different with further cross-examination (*U.S. v. Claiborne*, 870 F.2d 1463, 1469 (9th Cir. 1989)); *Richie v. Mullin*, 417 F.3d 1117 (10th Cir. 2005)

If the Court assumes, despite counsel's lack of knowledge about the April 26, 2018 plea agreement, that witness Wilson would have revealed it, for the reasons set forth above in the earlier section, the Petitioner had failed to show prejudice under *Strickland*. Independent of Wilson's testimony, there was corroboration of much of the information he revealed, as well as Darien's testimony that the jury had accepted. Wilson was also impeached based upon his inconsistent statements. The failure to question Wilson about the potential existence of the plea agreement does not undermine confidence in the verdict. Further for the additional reasons set forth in the preceding allegation, prejudice has not been shown.

under Strickland.” Hunt v. Nuth, 57 F.3d 1327, 1332 (4th Cir. 1995); see DeLozier v. Sirmons, 531 F.3d 1306, 1326 (10th Cir. 2008) (“[C]ounsel's decisions regarding how best to cross-examine witnesses presumptively arise from sound trial strategy”); U.S. v Nersesian, 824 F.2d 1294, at 1321 (2d. Cir. 1987) (“Decisions whether to engage in cross-examination, and if so to what extent and in what manner, are similarly strategic in nature.”).⁴

As such, counsel's cross-examination was reasonable, and Lowman failed to satisfy the first prong of Strickland. The PCR Court’s conclusion is supported by probative evidence. APP. 1336-1338.

Where the State had no agreement for a deal or non-prosecution with State witnesses Wilson and Darien and indicated that the Federal prosecutors should stay out of the State’s way in their prosecution and Lowman’s prosecution, and the federal government prosecutors had indicated to the witness Wilson that it would make a non-binding request for no prosecution or concurrent time, *unknown to the state prosecutors or the defense counsel*, a failure to further investigate potential plea resolutions Applicant’s co-defendants had does not entitled the Applicant to post-conviction relief because Sixth Amendment prejudice has not been shown where it was developed that the State had no agreement with the witnesses, the fact of a potential downward departure of the federal charges of Darien was developed to the jury, and there was independent corroborating evidence of Lowman’s involvement in the crime.

a. Joshua Darien

Counsel Williams testified that he was only aware prior to the trial that Wilson had been giving proffer statements. APP. 1199. It did not surprise him that the Lowman’s codefendants claimed they had not been promised anything and that there was nothing tempting them to lie.

⁴ “Impeachment strategy is a matter of trial tactics, and tactical decisions are not ineffective assistance of counsel simply because in retrospect better tactics may have been available.” Henderson v. Norris, 118 F.3d 1283, 1287 (8th Cir. 1997). Where trial counsel conducts a thorough and meaningful cross-examination of a witness, counsel's failure to employ a trial strategy that, in hindsight, might have been more effective does not constitute unreasonable performance for purposes of ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Cardwell v. Netherland, 971 F. Supp. 997, 1019 (E.D. Va. 1997).

APP. 1219. Counsel Williams testified that he knew of the proffer to Wilson, but he did not know of specific amounts of time or any reductions in an plea agreement to Wilson and he was also not aware of any federal agreement with Darien. APP. 1199-1200. He also knew that the state time Wilson and Darien faced was more than federal time they faced which was on weapons charges. Williams stated the only thing known by him prior to trial was the federally issued proffer agreement to Wilson, but not any agreement on time. APP. 1200. Williams had received from the federal public defender information on the two proffers about a week or two before the trial.⁵ APP. 1200. At this trial, the existence of an agreement related to downward departure with Darien was entered right before the redirect with Mr. Darien. Williams already knew that Wilson had a proffer but was not aware of anything more related to an agreement concerning a downward departure. Williams stated that he did not want to go back into it with Darien after the State had presented the matter on re-direct, noting it was based upon the obligation to tell the truth, where they were still facing the state charges.

Solicitor Hubbard also credibly stated at the PCR hearing that he was not aware of any proffer agreement or proffers by Darien with the federal government prior to the trial. APP. 1223-1224.

How the Darien matter was presented at trial

⁵ As the PCR Court notes that the federal plea agreement with Wilson was dated April 26, 2018. APP. 1258. There is no evidence of the date of the proffer agreement or the actual proffer agreement with Darien was presented to the Court or the trial court. It is unclear if Williams is referring to the same matters that were presented to him two weeks prior was about the proffered statements made pursuant to the agreement or the proffered agreement. The PCR Court noted that in the PACER online Federal Court Public Index in Mr. Darien's case the signed plea agreement was dated July 19, 2018, **subsequent to the testimony in Mr. Lowman's trial in June 2018**. The federal record shows that Daren entered a guilty plea in federal court on the same date. It is not clear whether there was an earlier plea agreement or if Solicitor Hubbard was misstating that it was actually a proffer agreement as Darien corrected him in the later questioning as to it being a proffer.

During the trial, Solicitor Hubbard inquired of Joshua Darien about being interviewed by both the State and Federal Government. Darien acknowledged that he was cooperating on those charges. APP. 945, l. 12-13. The following then occurred in the direct examination:

Q. Are there any promises by the Federal Government on what we're doing here today?

A. No Sir.

Q. And you know I'm the one in charge of your charges here?

A. Yes Sir.

Q. What deals do you have with me?

A. None

APP. 945, l. 7-21.

On cross-examination by counsel Williams, Darien stated that the federal charges pending against him were possession of a firearm and brandishing a firearm during a robbery under 18 U.S.C. §924(c), and impersonating law enforcement. APP. 976, l. 21-25. Darien stated on the state side, he was charged with burglary first degree, armed robbery, two counts of kidnapping, grand larceny, possession of a firearm during a violent crime and impersonating a law enforcement officer. APP. 977, l. 1-3. Darien also specifically asserted that had not had any discussion with "them" about "downward departure" on the federal cases and asserted he had not heard that before. APP. 977, l. 4-8.

After a brief redirect by Solicitor Hubbard there was a brief break. An issue related to federal charges was presented to the trial court. Solicitor Hubbard reported that he had just learned that Darien had entered into a "plea agreement" with the federal government with a downward

departure and wanted the information known to the jury. APP. 978.⁶ The solicitor declared he had not been aware of it, although he knew they were entering discussions to talk about pleading. Solicitor Hubbard indicated that with the federal dispositions he wanted to stay out of it, indicating he had no involvement in the discussions or agreement by the federal government because he does not have any business (in the federal charges). Judge Griffith with this information decided to recall Darien to the stand since his lawyer was present. APP. 979, 1.11-13.

In front of the jury, Solicitor Hubbard stated that the lawyer who represents Darien on the state and federal charges was present in the courtroom. Darien confirmed that he had a “proffer” with the federal government which indicated the possibility of a downward departure.⁷ Darien further confirmed that with the state charges, the federal proffer has no effect on what the Solicitor does with the state charges. APP. 980, 1.5-17.⁸

On cross-examination by Williams, Darien stated the understood that the downward departure was based upon his testimony and will decrease the amount of time he will serve on the federal charges in the federal system. APP. 981.

⁶ This may have been a misstatement as to it being a “plea agreement” rather than a “proffer agreement” with an expectation of a downward departure. As noted above, Darien referred to it was a proffer.

⁷ “A ‘proffer agreement’ is generally understood to be an agreement between a defendant and the government in a criminal case that sets forth the terms under which the defendant will provide information to the government during an interview, commonly referred to as a ‘proffer session.’” State v. Wills, 409 S.C. 183, 186 n.4, 762 S.E.2d 3, 4 n.4 (2014) (Beatty, J., dissenting) (quoting United States v. Lopez, 219 F.3d 343, 345 n.1 (4th Cir. 2000)). Wills v. State, 437 S.C. 385, 389, 878 S.E.2d 330, 332 (Ct. App. 2022), reh'g denied (Oct. 20, 2022), cert. denied (May 24, 2023). It can also be referred to as a “cooperation agreement.”

⁸ The actual agreement with Darien was not made part of the record in the trial court or in this proceeding. The only agreement in the federal court public index PACER is the July 19, 2018 plea agreement between Darien and the U.S. Attorney’s Office, signed and entered subsequent to Lowman’s trial.

The PCR Court found that with respect to Joshua Darien, the Petitioner had failed in his burden of proof to show Sixth Amendment prejudice – whether had Williams investigated the federal resolution of Darien federal matter, there was a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would have been different. APP. 1335-1336.⁹ The fact is that the jury became aware of the status of Darien plea negotiations with the federal government.¹⁰ It is also clear that there were no plea offers or negotiations with the State or Eleventh Circuit at the time of Darien’s testimony based upon the credible testimony of Solicitors Hubbard and Fuller. Since the jury became aware of the status of the federal negotiations prior to its decision, the Court must conclude that Petitioner has failed to show prejudice under the Sixth Amendment.¹¹

b. James Wilson

There is also probative evidence in the record to support the PCR Court’s finding that counsel did not further investigate the negotiations between the federal government and state

⁹ Counsel Williams testified that he was aware that Wilson had been giving proffer statements. APP. 1199. It did not surprise him that the codefendants claimed they had not been promised anything and that there was nothing tempting them to lie. APP. 1219.

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